# Supreme Court Copy S182508

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SEABRIGHT INSURANCE COMPANY, SUPREME COURT ANTHONY VERDON LUJAN FILED Plaintiffs and Appellants

MAY 7 - 2010

ν.

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

U.S. AIRWAYS, INC.

Deputy

(erroneously sued herein as America West Airlines)

Defendant and Respondent

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District
Division Four

First Appellate District Case No. A123726 San Francisco Superior Court, No. 458707

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

### KENNEY & MARKOWITZ L.L.P.

KYMBERLY E. SPEER (SBN 121703) ELIZABETH D. RHODES (SBN 218480)

255 California Street, Suite 1300

San Francisco, CA 94111

Telephone: (415) 397-3100

# **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Can a hirer's alleged violation of a "nondelegable" safety regulation, by itself, constitute "affirmative conduct" raising a triable issue of fact relating to the cause of injury to a contractor's employee?

# I. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case presents an issue of critical importance to everyone who hires an independent contractor to maintain equipment or property to relevant safety standards precisely because the hirer recognizes that it cannot competently perform that work itself.

The Court of Appeal has held that U.S. Airways, Inc.'s alleged "omission" to bring its conveyor belt system into compliance with "nondelegable" safety regulations, by itself, constitutes "affirmative conduct" under *Hooker v. Department of Transportation* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 198 (*Hooker*) such that U.S. Airways is not protected from liability to the injured employee of an independent contractor under the doctrine established by *Privette v. Superior Court* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 689 (*Privette*).

The Court of Appeal explicitly acknowledged that, in so holding, its decision directly conflicts with that of Division One of the same appellate district (*Madden v. Summit View, Inc.* (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 1267 [*Madden*]), as well as *Millard v. Biosources, Inc.* (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 1338 (*Millard*): "...[T]here appear now to be two strands of judicial thought on the interpretation of footnote 3 of *Hooker*." (Typed opinion, p. 17, fn. 14.) The Court of Appeal also held that U.S. Airways could not rely on the plaintiff's employer to ensure the safety of a baggage conveyor belt which *was* the subject of the employer's contract of work, and which equipment the contractor had exclusively maintained for decades. (Typed op., p. 12.)

Respondent/Plaintiff Seabright Insurance Company (Seabright) brought this suit in subrogation to recover for sums paid to Respondent/Plaintiff-in-Intervention Anthony Verdon Lujan (Verdon)

under a workers compensation policy issued to Verdon's employer, the Lloyd W. Aubry Co. (Aubry). Aubry is a licensed mechanical contractor hired by U.S. Airways to do preventive maintenance and repair of the airline's baggage conveyor belt system at San Francisco International Airport (SFO). Verdon intervened, also asserting negligence claims against U.S. Airways. It is undisputed that Verdon's arm was injured when it was caught in a conveyor he was in the process of inspecting for U.S. Airways at SFO. The superior court entered judgment in favor of U.S. Airways. Respondents appealed, and the Court of Appeal reversed the judgment.

Review should be granted for the following compelling reasons:

- 1. The Court of Appeal knowingly created a conflict of law by rejecting the holdings in *Madden* and *Millard*, and deciding instead that the mere existence of alleged violations of safety regulations was sufficient to constitute "affirmative conduct" contributing to Verdon's injury. (See *Hooker*, 27 Cal.4th at 215.) The Court of Appeal's decision also directly conflicts with *Hooker* itself, in which this Court held that a general contractor's awareness of an unsafe practice on the jobsite and failure to correct it were insufficient to establish that the contractor had affirmatively contributed to the death of an independent contractor's employee.
- 2. The Court of Appeal reached the second, "affirmative conduct" step in the two-part *Hooker* analysis (retained control *and* affirmative conduct causally related to the injury) by first ruling that U.S. Airways could not depend on Aubry to ensure that the conveyor belts which were the subject of Aubry's work complied with Cal-OSHA regulations. In finding this duty "nondelegable" the Court of Appeal disregarded *Padilla v. Pomona College* (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 661. (*Padilla*), which held that the plain language of a Cal-OSHA regulation

determines the scope of its application. Like the regulations discussed in *Padilla*, the rules at issue here do not provide that they can only be implemented by a landowner/occupier.

Review is urgently needed since resolution of the meaning of an "omission" sufficient to constitute "affirmative conduct" under *Hooker* has widespread ramifications for all hirers of independent contractors in California. This issue has been the subject of numerous unpublished decisions and now is squarely presented by the Court of Appeal's published opinion in this case.

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Anthony Verdon's Injury

Verdon's employer, Aubry, is a licensed mechanical contractor who was retained by America West Airlines, Inc. (corporate predecessor to U.S. Airways) to do preventive maintenance and repair of the airline's baggage conveyor belt system at SFO. (Typed op., p. 2.) Though the most recent version of Aubry's contract is dated in 1996, Aubry has continuously performed maintenance and repair on the same conveyor system since at least 1991. (*Ibid.*) On November 3, 2005 Verdon's arm was injured when it became caught in a baggage conveyor used by U.S. Airways and which was the subject of Aubry's contract. (*Id.*)

U.S. Airways relied entirely on Aubry for maintenance and upkeep of the baggage conveyor system. (Typed op., p. 3.) Aubry or the millwright union provided all of Verdon's training. (*Ibid.*) Verdon attended an Aubry safety meeting the morning of the accident. (*Ibid.*) U.S. Airways employees were neither working with Aubry's employees

nor otherwise present at the time of the incident. (*Id.* at p. 2.) The only evidence relating to the airline's "retained control" of the worksite was that U.S. Airways used the conveyor belt system pursuant to a space or use permit with SFO; U.S. Airways employees entered the workspace when necessary to clear bag jams from the conveyor belt; and Aubry would obtain authorization from U.S. Airways before the contractor performed repairs that required shutting down the conveyor belts. (*Id.*, p. 3.)

# B. Plaintiffs' Complaints And The Summary Judgment In Favor Of U.S. Airways, Inc.

Seabright is Aubry's workers compensation insurer, and filed this action seeking recovery for benefits paid with regard to the November 3, 2005 incident. (See typed op., pp. 1-2.) Verdon intervened, alleging causes of action for negligence and premises liability. (Typed op., p. 2.)

U.S. Airways separately moved for summary judgment against Verdon and Seabright, alleging that it was entitled to judgment under *Hooker* because, *inter alia*, U.S. Airways had retained no more than passive control at the worksite and did not affirmatively contribute to Verdon's accident. (See typed op., p. 2-3.) Verdon and Seabright opposed the motions, contending the conveyor did not comply with regulations requiring guarding at certain "nip points," and that U.S. Airways had a nondelegable duty to ensure that the conveyor belt was a safe worksite. (Typed op., p. 3-4.)

The trial court granted both motions, finding that there was no evidence that U.S. Airways had contributed to Verdon's accident by its affirmative conduct, and that there was no admissible evidence regarding

the cause of Verdon's injuries. (Typed op., p. 2.)<sup>1</sup> The trial court therefore ordered judgment for U.S. Airways. (Typed op., p. 2.) Respondents appealed. (See *ibid*.)

## C. The Court of Appeal Opinion

Verdon and Seabright on appeal repeated their arguments that California Code of Regulations, title 8, Sections 3999 ("Conveyors") and 4002 ("Moving Parts of Machinery or Equipment") imposed "nondelegable" duties on U.S. Airways to ensure the safety of its conveyor belt system, and that the trial court should have followed *Evard v. Southern California Edison* (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 137 (*Evard*) and found that alleged noncompliance with the regulations satisfied the "affirmative conduct" element of the *Hooker* liability analysis. (See Typed op., p. 7.) The Court of Appeal agreed, and in a published decision reversed the summary judgments for the following reasons:

- 1. U.S. Airways had retained control over worksite safety as a matter of law, since the two regulations at issue here impose "nondelegable" duties on U.S. Airways that were not connected to construction or a work that would naturally be done by independent contractors who control the worksite.
- 2. The conveyor belt's lack of guarding was undisputed evidence that U.S. Airways had "omitted to provide the required safety precautions for the conveyor." In turn, this "omission" constituted "affirmative

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The trial court also rejected plaintiffs' argument that the lighting at the site was insufficient. Since the Court of Appeal likewise found the lighting evidence unconvincing (Typed op., p. 10, fn. 10), this contention is not further discussed here.

conduct" under *Hooker*'s footnote 3 in which this Court noted, "...There will be times when a hirer will be liable for omissions..." The Court of Appeal explicitly recognized that its ruling highlighted an important conflict in the law over when nonaction constitutes "affirmative conduct" under *Hooker*:

Madden described Millard as holding that "safety regulations" are only admissible in actions by employees of subcontractors brought against general contractors where other evidence establishes that the general contractor affirmatively contributed to the employee's injuries." [Citation.] Whether Millard was, in fact, referring to evidence "other" than the breach of the regulatory duty itself is not at all clear. [Citation.] Assuming it was, there appear now to be two strands of judicial thought on the interpretation of footnote 3 of Hooker. Barclay [v. Lange Distributor, Inc. (2005) 129 Cal. App. 4th 281] and Evard take the view that the breach of a nondelegable statutory or regulatory safety obligation, without more, can create a triable issue as to whether the hirer affirmatively contributed to the employee's injury, while *Millard* and *Madden* take the view that it cannot.

(Typed op., p. 17, fn. 14; emphasis added.) In reaching this conclusion the Court of Appeal disregarded Aubry's own obligations under Cal-OSHA regulations to maintain a safe worksite, a responsibility the contractor recognized.

- 3. The alleged regulatory violation (lack of guarding) and the fact that Verdon's arm became caught in the conveyor raised a triable issue of fact regarding causation.
- U.S. Airways filed a petition for rehearing, which the Court of Appeal denied on April 28, 2010. (See the attached Exhibit B.)

### III. LEGAL DISCUSSION

- A. Review Should Be Granted To Establish That The Alleged Violation Of A Safety Regulation, By Itself, Does Not Constitute "Affirmative Conduct" Under *Hooker* 
  - 1. Hooker's footnote 3 requires knowledge to avoid Privette's protection of a passive hirer

This Court's decision in *Hooker* further clarified the *Privette* doctrine that a hirer generally is not liable in tort to a contractor's employee for injuries arising in the manner in which the contractor performed its work. (See generally *Privette* and *Toland v. Sunland Housing Group, Inc.* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 253.) In *Hooker* this Court ruled that the hirer of a independent contractor is not liable to an employee of the contractor merely because the hirer retained control over safety conditions at a worksite, but that the hirer is liable to an employee of a contractor insofar as the hirer's exercise of retained control affirmatively contributed to the employee's injuries. (*Hooker*, 27 Cal.4th at 198.) In footnote 3 of the decision this Court noted,

Such affirmative contribution need not always be in the form of actively directing a contractor or contractor's employee. There will be times when a hirer will be liable for its omissions. For example, if the hirer promises to undertake a particular safety measure, then the hirer's negligent failure to do so should result in liability if such negligence leads to an employee injury.

The footnote's example of an actionable "omission" clearly requires the hirer's awareness of noncompliance with a safety regulation and inaction that is causally linked to the plaintiff's injury.

In *Hooker* this Court reasoned that it would be unfair to impose tort liability on a hirer simply because it retained the ability to exercise control over safety conditions at the worksite. (*Hooker*, 27 Cal.4th at 211-212.) Further, imposing liability on a hirer who did not cause the accident would not further the policy consideration of distributing the risk of employee accidents to the party best able to absorb jobsite accident losses by indirectly including the cost of safety precautions and insurance coverage into the contract price. (*Hooker*, 27 Cal.4th at 213.)

# 2. The Court of Appeal's opinion created a conflict in the law regarding "omissions" as "affirmative conduct"

The Court of Appeal in this case knew exactly the conflict in law its published decision would create. (Typed op., p. 17, fn. 14.) There now are cases on both sides of the issue regarding whether the violation of a safety regulation, by itself, constitutes "affirmative conduct" under *Hooker* and contributes to an employee's injury.

On one hand, *Millard* held that a claimed Labor Code safety violation was insufficient to create a triable issue of material fact as to the general contractor's duty of care where there was no evidence the general contractor affirmatively contributed to the plaintiff's injuries. (*Millard*, 156 Cal.App.4th at 1352, 1353.) Relying on *Millard*, Division One of First Appellate District held in *Madden* that the existence of worksite conditions that did not comply with Cal-OSHA regulations "are not sufficient in themselves to create a triable issue of fact" on the issue of the contractor's duty of care. (See also *Ruiz v. Herman Weissker, Inc.* (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 52 [Labor Code section 6400 does not establish nondelegable safety duty by independent contractor to employees of subcontractor.])

The Court of Appeal's decision in this case even conflicts with Hooker, in which the hirer's knowledge of a contractor's unsafe practice on a jobsite and failure to correct it still was held insufficient to impose liability on the hirer for injuries sustained by a contractor's employee as a result of that practice, where there was no causal link shown between knowledge of the practice and the plaintiff's injury. As the Court of Appeal commented in Madden, "In comparison to Caltrans's argument for summary judgment in Hooker, [defendant's] claim here would seem to be at least as meritorious." (Madden, 165 Cal.App.4th at 1275.) The same holds in this case. There is no evidence that U.S. Airways was ever aware of the alleged regulatory violations, that it either took no action or directed that guarding not be installed, and that the failure to install guarding was causally linked to Verdon's injury.

In contradiction to *Hooker*, *Millard* and especially *Madden*, Division Four of the First Appellate District used a litigation expert's opinion of worksite conditions two years after the fact (Typed op., p. 3-4) as grounds to leap to the unsupported presumptions that U.S. Airways not only was aware of the alleged regulatory violations at the time of Verdon's accident, but knowingly "omitted to provide the required safety precautions." (See generally typed op., p. 2-4.) The Court of Appeal justified its decision by citing primarily to *Evard* and *Barclay v. Jesse M. Lange Distributor, Inc.* (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 281 (*Barclay*), both of which Division Four implicitly recognized cannot be reconciled with *Madden* and *Millard*.

In *Evard* the Second Appellate District held that a General Industry Safety Order imposed on the owners of a billboard a nondelegable duty to ensure compliance with safety regulations. In turn, the billboard's noncompliance raised a triable issue of fact as to whether the "omission" to

provide the required horizontal guardrail affirmatively contributed to injuries sustained by the employee of an independent contractor hired to change the advertisement on the billboard. Similarly, in *Barclay* the Third Appellate District held there were triable issues of fact regarding whether the owner of a bulk petroleum business "affirmatively contributed" to burns suffered by the employee of a contractor, who was injured while cleaning fuel tanks on the property. The property did not have fire extinguishers within 75 feet of the storage tanks, a violation of the Fire Code. The Third District concluded that "liability may be predicated upon [the owner's] breach of its own regulatory duties, regardless of whether or not it voluntarily retained control or actively participated in the project." (*Barclay*, 129 Cal.App.4th at 301.)

In this case, the Court of Appeal's published opinion deliberately rejected Madden and Millard, and joined with Evard and Barclay in holding that the alleged existence of a regulatory violation, by itself, is an "omission" which under *Hooker* can raise a triable issue of fact regarding "affirmative conduct" contributing to a plaintiff's injuries. (Typed op., p. 17, fn. 14.) The Court of Appeal's reasons for doing so, expressed in two sentences, are unconvincing. The opinion reasons, "In this case, the liability that appellants seek to impose on U.S. Airways is for its own alleged negligence in omitting to guard the conveyor. This liability is in no sense vicarious or derivative of Aubry's, and does not violate the rule of Hooker." (Typed op., p. 16.) Neither statement is accurate. There is no evidence in the record from which the Court of Appeal could conclude that U.S. Airways knew the conveyors needed to have guards added. Likewise, the record does not reflect that U.S. Airways, a provider of air transportation services, knew anything about conveyor belts.

contrary: "Neither U.S. Airways nor its predecessor had manufactured, distributed, or sold conveyor belt systems. ... Aubry employees received their training from Aubry, not from U.S. Airways employees ... U.S. Airways ... relied entirely on Aubry for the maintenance and upkeep of the system." (Typed op., p. 2, 3.)

This Court should accept Division Four's oblique invitation and grant review to resolve the irreconcilable conflict in the case law regarding whether an alleged regulatory violation, unaccompanied by any evidence of hirer knowledge and willful inattention, constitutes an actionable "omission" under *Hooker*.

# 3. The Court of Appeal's decision has ramifications far beyond the U.S. Airways jobsite at SFO

U.S. Airways is in the business of providing air transportation to passengers and cargo, not maintaining conveyor belts. U.S. Airways therefore retains contractors like Aubry and pays a contract price that should account for the cost of the contractor's workers compensation coverage, medical and disability benefits, employee training and other operational expenses. U.S. Airways should not be exempted from the protection of the *Privette* doctrine merely because it pays for things Aubry advises need repair, or because the airline must know for the sake of its own operations when Aubry needs to shut down a baggage belt for maintenance.

The Court of Appeal's decision in effect puts every passive hirer on the same footing as an independent contractor retained to perform work precisely because the hirer recognizes it lacks the knowledge or resources to do the job itself. This sudden and exponential expansion of liability undoubtedly will cause a concomitant explosion in insurance costs for all hirers, particularly those who operate at multiple locations. There is no practical way any business can properly prepare for such a limitless expansion of liability; insurance for an unlimited risk doubtless will be unaffordable.

Further, the Court of Appeal's decision will result in an unwarranted windfall for employees who already have received workers compensation benefits paid for by U.S. Airways. The *Privette* doctrine is so watered down by the Court of Appeal's decision as to offer hirers no protection at all, while eviscerating the policies supporting the workers compensation statutes. An injured employee will be able to retain the benefits paid by the workers compensation insurer and then sued the hirer who paid for those injuries, using trumped-up charges of regulatory violations to bolster the suit.

In turn, the alleged regulatory violations themselves, whether material or immaterial, and whether proven or not, will become tantamount to a showing of "negligence *per se*," and induce hirers to gauge their potential for liability accordingly. Hirers sued by plaintiffs injured while working for independent contractors will be induced to pay out more sums in settlement or judgment, and pay more readily, than otherwise would be the case.

Permitting what is essentially strict liability to attach on a mere finding of a potential safety violation, without more, also creates a strong incentive for workers compensation insurers to seek recoupment of benefits that they otherwise never would be entitled to seek. In so doing, the legislative purpose underlying the workers compensation scheme is undermined to a substantial extent, as hirers will be required to treat the

employees of independent contractors as their own, and either insure them as employees or face exposure to windfall payments to both the contractor's employee and its workers compensation insurer. This result was never intended by the Legislature in creating California's workers compensation scheme.

Review should be granted to preclude these many deleterious results that are highly likely to arise as a result of the Court of Appeal's decision.

# B. U.S. Airways Could Rely On Aubry To Ensure Jobsite Safety Under Cal-OSHA Regulations

The Court of Appeal's choice to disregard *Millard* and *Madden* was intertwined with its determination that the two regulations at issue here, Sections 3999 and 4002 of Title 8, California Code of Regulations, imposed on U.S. Airways a "nondelegable duty" to ensure that the subject of Aubry's work, the baggage conveyor belts, contained guarding at "nip points." (Typed op., p. 12.) The Court of Appeal relied on *Evard*, *Barclay* and *Park v. Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railway Co.* (2003) 108 Cal.App.4th 595 as support for its "nondelegable duty" ruling. In so holding, the Court of Appeal established another conflict of law, this time with *Padilla v. Pomona College* (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 661 (*Padilla*), and ignored both U.S. Airways's acknowledged total dependence on Aubry's expertise, and Cal-OSHA's express application of the stated regulations to all employers, including Aubry.

In *Padilla* the Court of Appeal evaluated the terms of a Cal-OSHA regulation (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8 § 1735(a)) to determine if it imposed a nondelegable duty on a college and general contractor to depressurize a particular PVC pipe prior to the start of a project in which a subcontractor

would be working on a demolition project nearby. Looking to the plain text of the regulation itself, the Court of Appeal held, "The language [of the regulation] nowhere indicates who must perform these acts and does not expressly place the obligation on the landowner." Therefore, compliance with the regulation could be delegated from the landowner to the general contractor to subcontractors.

The two Cal-OSHA regulations at issue here apply to "all employments and places of employment in California as defined by Labor Code Section 6303..." (Cal-OSHA, Section 3202; emphasis added) – including Aubry. Because of the declared express application of these regulations to all employers, and like the Cal-OSHA regulations at issue in Padilla, the rules in question here do not contain any limitations on which "employments" must ensure the regulations are implemented. Aubry was at least equally, if not more, responsible for ensuring the safety of the equipment it was hired to maintain, not only in connection with its contract with U.S. Airways, but also because it was wholly responsible for the safety of its own workers. It would not further the policy of ensuring workplace safety for the regulations to be mandatory as to a passive hirer like U.S. Airways, but not a contractor like Aubry for whom recognition of conditions not in compliance with safety regulations is an inherent part of the contracted work. In fact, such analysis only creates an incentive to independent contractors like Aubry to shirk their duties to maintain a safe workplace for their employees, as the risk associated with not doing so is now foisted back upon the hirer. The Court of Appeal's "nondelegable duty" analysis therefore is at odds with *Padilla* and does not further public policy.

# C. Alternatively, This Case Should Be Transferred To The Court Of Appeal With Instructions To Modify Its Decision

The Court of Appeal's references to the record (Typed op., p. 2-5) do not include any evidence that the airline was even marginally aware of the allegedly unsafe condition of the conveyor belts in 2005. To the contrary, it is a reasonable inference from the record that the airline had no such knowledge, since U.S. Airways "relied *entirely* on Aubry for the maintenance and upkeep of the system." (Typed op., p. 3; emphasis added.) Similarly, the Court of Appeal's decision implicitly acknowledges that there is no evidence in the record showing a causal link between the *fact* of Verdon's injury and the *occurrence* of the accident. The Court of Appeal filled in this blank with its presumption, unsupported by evidence in the record, that had the conveyor belt contained certain guards Verdon's injury would not have occurred.

If this Court declines to grant review and request briefing on the merits, then at a minimum the Court should grant review and transfer this case to the Court of Appeal with directions to modify its opinion and hold that compliance with the alleged regulatory violations was not "nondelegable," and that the alleged Cal-OSHA violations neither constitute an "omission to act" nor reasonably imply a causal relationship between the lack of guarding and plaintiff's injury.

# IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, this Petition for Review should be granted and the case decided by this Court on the merits. In the alternative, U.S. Airways respectfully submits that review should be granted and the

case transferred to the Court of Appeal with directions to modify its opinion in the manner set forth above.