SUPREME COURT COPY

SUPREME COURT FILED

No. S182508

MAY **2 6** 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SEABRIGHT INSURANCE COMPANY, ANTHONY VERDON LUJAN, Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

U.S.AIRWAYS, INC. (erroneously sued herein as AMERICA WEST AIRLINES),

Defendant/Respondent.

After Decision by the Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Four

First Appellate District Court Case No. A123726 San Francisco Superior Court Case No. 458707

APPELLANTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. The "Issue Presented" is Not Framed by the Court of Appeal Opinion and Alone is Grounds for Denial.

Consistent with the principles established by the *Privette-Toland* line of cases, the analysis of the Appellate Court was two-tiered: (1) whether the applicable safety regulations and undisputed facts charged Petitioner with a non-delegable duty and breach thereof and (2) whether the breach of the non-delegable duty was a cause of the injury. The foregoing is consistent with the non-delegable duty exception established and upheld in *Evard v. Southern California Edison* (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 137, *Madden v. Summit View, Inc.* (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 1267 and *Padilla v. Pomona College* (2008) 166 Cal.App.4th 661. Contrary to the Petition, the Opinion does not set forth anywhere in its text "that the mere existence of alleged violations of safety regulations was sufficient to constitute 'affirmative conduct'..." (Petition for Review, p. 3.)

Petitioner sets forth their above argument to conform to what they perceive to be a conflict of law needing to be resolved. Whether or not that issue is a conflict needing to be resolved is one question. Whether that issue even exists in our case is another. A review of the Opinion shows that no such ruling was made, and that the Court in fact thoroughly addressed the "affirmative contribution" needed in a non-delegable duty case. Therefore, our present matter contains no such issue as framed by Petitioner, and there is no ripe conflict to resolve. Thus, the Petition for Review should be denied.

B. Evard, Madden and Padilla Provide for a Non-Delegable Duty Exception to Privette.

Evard, Madden and Padilla co-exist and establish grounds for an exception to the Privette-Toland Doctrine: where a hirer is charged with a non-delegable duty and the breach thereof affirmatively contributes to the cause of injury, the hirer is not shielded from liability. In each of those cases, the safety regulations differed. Accordingly, the courts discussed those regulations and whether they imposed a non-delegable duty on the hirer, or whether the duty could be delegated. See Evard, supra, at 146; Madden, supra, at 1275; Padilla, supra, at 673. In this case the Court below properly evaluated this issue and concluded that Petitioner was charged with a non-delegable duty pursuant to Title 8, sections 3999 and 4002 of the California Code of Regulations. The same was supported by the indisputable terms of the Space and Use Permit defining Petitioner's duties upon taking possession of the premises and the Services Agreement between Petitioner and Aubry, Verdon's employer. See Seabright, supra, at 223, 232.

Under Hooker v. Department of Transportation (2002) 27 Cal.4th 198, a party must also prove that the breach of a non-delegable duty affirmatively contributed to the cause of an injury in order to trigger liability of a hirer. See Seabright, supra, at 229. Petitioner relies on the commentary in Footnote 14 of the Opinion to argue that it creates a conflict of law (Madden/Millard on the one hand and Barclay/Evard on the other) which must be reconciled. The Court of Appeal opinion in this case, however, does not provide that Madden and Evard create conflicting legal

¹ This exception to *Privette* is distinct from the exception created by *Hooker* which requires (1) retained control and (2) affirmative contribution.

standards from which it must choose.² In fact, the Court of Appeal specifically recognized that *Madden's* reference to *Millard* did not consider the effect of *Barclay* or *Park. Id.* at 234-235. Additionally, *Millard* did not consider the omission as affirmative contribution as allowed under *Hooker*. Thus, the Petitioner is seeking an academic evaluation of the body of jurisprudence related to the *Privette-Toland* Doctrine itself, rather than an actual reconciliation of any articulated conflict in the current case law related to the non-delegable duty exception based on the facts in this case.

The foregoing confirms Petitioner's fundamental misunderstanding of the *Privette-Toland* body of law. In its argument, Petitioner refers to "retained control" as it relates to the instant case and the analysis of "affirmative contribution" as it did in its brief submitted to the Court below. (See Petition, pp.5, 6.) The "retained control" and "non-delegable duty" exceptions to *Privette*, however are distinct and cannot be mixed and matched is achieve the desired result.

Finally, Petitioner wrongly asserts the Court of Appeal disregarded *Padilla* in its entirety, despite the fact the Opinion devotes over two of its fourteen pages of discussion of applicable case law to the analysis of the non-delegable duty exception, including *Padilla*. In doing so, the Court simply acknowledged that the nature of the safety regulations at issue in *Padilla* and *Evard* were distinguishable — one obligation arose in connection with a-dynamic work environment of a construction site which would naturally be controlled by an independent contractor (*Padilla*), versus an obligation which was imposed on the hirer regardless of any work

² Further, Petitioner detrimentally relies on *Millard* because it fails to recognize that *Millard* addressed affirmative contribution in the context of the "retained control" exception to *Privette*, which is not the subject of the present action. See Petition, p.9; *Millard v. Biosources, Inc.* (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 1338, 1348.

being done at the site and which inured to the benefit of all persons present at the site for any reason (*Evard*). See *Seabright*, *supra*, at 231. The Court recognized this distinction also existed as between the present case and the regulations at issue in *Madden* and *Millard*. *Id*. at 235. This is the very analysis upon which the *Padilla* decision is predicated, and thus Petitioner's argument in this regard lacks merit.

C. The Public Policy Underlying *Privette* is Not Frustrated by the Opinion.

The public policy underlying the *Privette* line of cases is meant to shield non-negligent parties from liability. *Id.* In this case, Petitioner alone created the risk by breaching its statutory and contractual duties, which arose irrespective of the work or activity of Verdon and employer Aubry. The liability of Petitioner is not premised upon the negligence of an independent contractor who caused its own employee's injury. The Agreement between Petitioner and Aubry disposes of any question that Aubry was retained to perform safety compliance analysis of the equipment as the scope of its work is described as only "preventative maintenance and repair of conveyor system." See *Id.* at 223. At best, Petitioner's argument amounts to nothing more than comparative negligence. Aubry and Verdon's disputed potential comparative negligence alone, however, does not support summary judgment in favor of Petitioner.

Verdon was injured in the course and scope of his employment with Aubry when his arm became caught in an unguarded conveyor in the possession of Petitioner as part of a Space and Use Permit between Petitioner and San Francisco International Airport ("the Airport"). Aubry was hired by Petitioner to perform preventative maintenance on the conveyor, and nothing more. As union trained millwrights, Aubry employees did not have any specialized training in the evaluation of

conveyors for compliance with applicable safety standards and regulations, as was established by the uncontroverted declarations of its employees submitted to the Court below. There is no evidence defining the scope of Aubry's work as anything other than keeping the conveyors functional so as to ensure timely delivery of luggage to Petitioner's passengers. See *Id.* at 223-224.

The Court of Appeal's ruling reversing the trial court's Order granting summary judgment and finding that the nondelegable duty exception to *Privette* is alive through *Evard* and *Madden*, is consistent with California's public policy: namely, one, who by statute or administrative regulation, is under a duty to provide specified safeguards or precautions for the safety of others is subject to liability to the others for whose protection the duty is imposed. The General Industry Safety Orders in this case were intended to safeguard those who were in or around the conveyor to ensure they were not injured by its moving parts. The fact that an employee of a subcontractor was hired to work on the conveyor does not excuse Petitioner from its statutory duties to guard the conveyor.

Petitioner's argument allows a hirer to escape liability- even when directly at fault. Petitioner's argument allowing for those with direct responsibility to comply with applicable safety standards and regulations to still escape liability is in direct contradiction with the *Privette-Toland* principles, including *Evard*, *Madden* and *Padilla*. Petitioner claims it should be immune from liability for violation of its non-delegable duty as long as it was not aware of the violation – in essence Petitioner seeks a ruling that a party who performs no inspections of its leased premises and claims ignorance of any applicable regulations to those premises should avoid all liability for harm caused by the violation of applicable regulations.

Petitioner espouses the very direct liability activities that public policy seeks to deter.

IV. CONCLUSION

The Opinion does not create a conflict in the existing law needing to be resolved. Additionally, Petitioner has set forth no good faith basis for this Court to grant review, and therefore the Petition should be denied.